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1880s view of the northern part of Petrie Terrace and Red Hill from  
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This study relates to the area bounded by Hale Street, Musgrave Road, Petrie Terrace and Milton 

Road, and primarily the residential area behind the mixed commercial street frontages of Caxton 

Street and Petrie Terrace. City Plan 2014 has much of the area zoned CH1 Character Residential. 

The area was the subject of a field study undertaken by the National Trust in 1977, suggesting they 

were active in designating this town planning/development constraint. The BHG Research Library has 

digitised copies of many of the worksheets for each individual property, and photographic prints of 

some of the buildings and houses from that time. Rod Fisher and his associates subsequently, during 

the 1980s, returned and photographed the buildings again.  

Forty years later we decided it was time for an update, and this set of street albums provides a 

snapshot of how the houses, predominantly small lot timber cottages, have been adapted for current 

day living. The area was predominantly working class in the 1970s, however, as with other older city 

fringe suburbs this has changed over time. It will primarily be of interest to residents interested in 

the history of their home, and we would welcome feedback, particularly if you would like to share 

this information in future updates. 

For the albums we have used scanned copies of photographic prints when available, photocopies 

when not, and digital images for current conditions. A number of the houses photographed in the 

1980s included side and rear views which can be made available on request. There appears to have 

been some renumbering of properties over time – apologies in advance if we have erred. 

Your comments and corrections will be appreciated. 

Kaye Mobsby & Andrew Darbyshire   bhgresearchlibrary@gmail.com 

mailto:bhgresearchlibrary@gmail.com
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Images from an 1880s panorama of Petrie Terrace 

Military Barracks to Princess Street 

The building long side-on to Petrie Terrace and just up from Secombe Street was at one time 
The Cricketer’s Arms (see No 146). The train would have been heading to Sandgate, this 
before the completion of tunnel works and its re-routing via Central Station in the early 

1890s 
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Images from an 1880s panorama of Petrie Terrace 

Princess Street to Musgrave Road 

The O’Keefe Terrace (see Nos 226-230) is prominent, the substantial two storey residence to 
the right of this is Florence House (see No 256) 
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1977 

 

October 2023 

No 4 Petrie Terrace 
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The Saints performing live at Club 76 (Joe Borkowski) 
 

No 4 Petrie Terrace (known for much of its existence as No 2) was built by journalist and later 
government printer Edmund Gregory as a rental property and it housed a range of tenants 
into the early 1900s. In 1976, Saints’ singer Chris Bailey moved in and was joined by band 
mate and drummer Ivor Hay. The former shopfront became a new rehearsal space for The 
Saints. Bailey, Hay, guitarist Ed Kuepper and bass player Kym Bradshaw practised frequently. 

After a glass plate at the front of No 4 was smashed in protest against the band, Ed Kuepper 
suggests writing ‘Club 76’ over the boarded up window and using the house for shows. 
Beyond suburban halls, options for live performances in Brisbane for the Saints had always 
been limited—but now they had their own venue. Attendances grew rapidly from a handful 
of friends to a packed house.  

Ultimately, Club 76 was short lived. Police and health inspectors took a dim view of the 
overcrowded and unlicensed venue with insufficient fire exits and toilets, and closed it down.  

 

The Saints in front of the Club 76 sign (Joe Borkowski) 
 

Club 76 - Heritage and music digital trail, Qld Government website 
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c1983 

 

August 2024 

No 6 Petrie Terrace 
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c1908  (inset 1968) 

(State Library of Queensland, inset Brisbane City Archives) 

Edmund Gregory also built a wooden dwelling he named ‘Gregorian Cottage’ c1862 on the 
land he purchased at the Petrie Terrace/Milton Road intersection, it was later renamed 
‘Tulloona’. 
 

 

The Telegraph 31 Mar 1916 
(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 

 

By 1916 the name of the residence at this address had changed to Paragon House and was 
being advertised as rooms to rent. In 1918 the brick storehouse was built next door and it 
would appear that the dwelling was either demolished or very heavily renovated from its 
original state. 
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c1983 

 

October 2023 

No 8 Petrie Terrace 
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No 8 Petrie Terrace – Jackson’s Granary also known as Howes Produce Store 
Brisbane City Council Local Heritage Place Notes from Heritage citation: 

Harold James Howes purchased the site on 3 November 1914. The English-born Howes had 

been in business as a produce merchant since the 1870s, and by 1880s had become ‘amongst 

the largest dealers in Brisbane, having worked up some of the best connections in the 

colony’. In July 1914 the company purchased 20,000 bags of maize from Sydney, one of the 

largest maize deals in Queensland’s history. With the grain contracted to be delivered by July 

1919, the purchase of the Petrie Terrace site was likely addressing the company’s increased 

storage needs. The site was conveniently close to the Roma and Turbot Street markets, 

where farm produce was traded. It was also near the Roma Street railway goods yard, useful 

for freight brought in from rural Queensland or interstate. 

The beginning of World War I slowed development, and it was not until 1918 that Howes 

engaged architect Frank Longland to design a brick building for the Petrie Terrace site. 

Builder J Cunningham successfully tendered to construct Howes Bros’ brick storehouse. The 

building was completed in 1918, as Howes Bros’ foresaw an increased need for storage. 

In 1923 Howes Brothers was taken over by Barron Orr and Co, who briefly operated from the 

building. The Petrie Terrace building was transferred to produce merchant William A Forth in 

1924. Forth was ‘one of the best-known men in the trade,’ as noted in a Brisbane Courier 

article in 1932, and advertised his ‘commodious store’ on Petrie Terrace where he would 

‘readily give advice’ on the planting of agricultural seeds. Forth ran his business from the 

store until 1938, when J Jackson & Co bought the property. The new owners were also long-

established produce and seeds merchants with premises in Roma Street, near the Roma 

Street markets. They housed their bulk produce and seed store in the Petrie Terrace building 

from August 1939.  

In the 1940s conflict between Petrie Terrace residents and the grain stores came to the fore. 

The stores were prone to fire, causing danger for nearby residents. The grain and seeds also 

attracted vermin like weevils which invaded nearby houses. On 24 December 1947 the 

Jackson & Co building was fumigated with carbon bisulphide, a highly flammable chemical. 

This caused an explosion in which the side and rear walls were blown out and collapsed on 

an adjoining house, killing four people. 

The building was repaired and carried on business through the 1950s and 1960s. Six 21 

metre silos were added to the site in 1961 and Jacksons continued to use the site until 1983 

when they sold it to Prino Rossi Pty Ltd. In 1989 Jim Baker of Vestos Pty Ltd purchased the 

derelict building and it was converted into the Museum of Contemporary Art (MOCA). In 

1996 Baker commissioned architect Jon Voller to design eleven apartments inside the 

granary. The new development was given the name “Jacksons”. In 2016 the building is the 

sole surviving remnant of the large service precinct that drew its business from the Roma 

Street goods yard and the now defunct Roma Street Markets.  
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The Telegraph 16 Jan 1930 

(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 
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September 1991 

 

The Courier Mail 14 Aug 1996 
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1996 Newspaper cutting 
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c1984 

 

October 2023 

No 22 Petrie Terrace 
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Brisbane Tramways Substation No 4 
Brisbane City Council Local Heritage Place Notes from Heritage citation: 
 

With the expansion of Brisbane’s tramway system during the 1920s, the three original tram 
power stations proved inadequate to the task. A new system of strategic power substations, 
that could generate high voltage alternating power along the tramway system, was 
proposed. The Brisbane City Council approved the erection of a substation on the vacant 
block of land between Sexton and Sheriff Streets on Petrie Terrace in 1927. The builder was 
Mr JG Hobbs. Due to funding shortages, particularly after the outbreak of the Great 
Depression in 1929, the Petrie Terrace substation was not opened until 1930. It was 
designated Substation Number 4 and continued to provide power to the tramlines until 
Council closed its tram service on 13 April 1969. Thereafter, Substation Number 4 operated 
as a Council storeroom and later as a carpentry workshop and residence. On 19 January 
1991, tenders were called for the disposal of Substation No. 4. It was subsequently converted 
into a residence. 

 

 

The Telegraph 5 Mar 1929 
(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 
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January 1991 
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c1984 

 

October 2023 

No 32 Petrie Terrace 
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1977 

 

October 2023 

Petrie Terrace looking north 
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1968 (Brisbane City Archives) 

On the west side of Petrie Terrace is what remains of a traditional stretch of shops from 
Sheriff Street to the top of the hill. On the Sheriff Street corner that notorious all-night take-
away known as The Windmill was once home to the NSW Photographic and Fine Art 
Company. Next door housed a couple of lady fruiterers, followed by the two storied 
Queensland National Bank branch.  
 

On the Caxton Street corner the drapery became a butcher’s shop after 1900 and in recent 
years an eatery, currently sporting a 1988 Meccano model of the Eiffel Tower out the back; 
it’s old cast iron verandah post downpipes remain on the streetline, as do the stone-walled 
cellars downstairs. Up past the old hotel, most of the shops have gone for car and 
commercial accommodation. 

BHG Walk/Drive Heritage Tour (1989) 

 

In the 1940s and 1950s, when I lived in Petrie Terrace, the Windmill cafe was on the corner of 
Sheriff Street, then came Mr Watson the shoe repairer, then Noonan’s chemist actually run 
by Mr Noonan, then Mr and Mrs Cavanagh had a mixed business, not sure of the next 
business, then Fraser’s butcher shop on the corner of Caxton Street. There were two brothers 
who owned and ran the butcher shop with a young apprentice named Reggie. I sometimes 
worked for the Cavanagh’s weighing out sugar into brown paper bags from the large hessian 
bag that it was delivered in. 

Reminiscences of Joan Kelly (2023) 
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The eateries in the strip of shops from 36 to 44 are remembered fondly by many residents 

and also those passing through the area late at night after attending a football game at 

Lang Park. Very few eateries in Brisbane were open late night/early morning hours in the 

1970s/80s which made these cafes popular for fast food. 

There are dozens of interesting recollections and comments on social media regarding these 

shops. The examples here are from posts on various Facebook groups. The following two 

comments described an interesting practice that went on in these eateries, hard to believe 

but it was corroborated by many.  

Methylated Spirits in the same fridge as the Orchy Orange fruit drinks was five cents a bottle 

dearer than the hot ones on the shelf 

Allan Threlfall 

When I drove a cab in Brisbane in 1979/80 the alcos bought chilled Metho for drinking at $2 
bottle 

Darryl Mcarthy 

The Windmill was an absolute must for a Chiko Roll on the way home after a big night out 

Jon Cotterell 

My panel shop was under the windmill called Slimms paint and Panel 

Danny Elisseos 

My dad is the original Harry who started the business in the 1960s. He originally worked in 

the Windmill with my mum and then took a chance and opened his own business (Harry’s). 

He sold in the mid 1970s but they kept his name until recent years. When he retired he went 

back and did a few hours here and there to pass his time until the new owners changed it 

Tony Nic 

In Brisbane I met my father’s relations. They had migrated to Australia in the early 1930s. 

They helped me look for a business suitable for a beginner. I liked Brisbane and decided to 

make it my home. I phoned my younger brother John and offered him a partnership. He 

readily accepted and we bought The Windmill on Petrie Terrace – a great business. It was 

one of the few places in Brisbane in 1957 that stayed open until dawn. 

They all came to eat our speciality, T-bone steak with spaghetti, and our hamburgers with 

the lot. The students came, the party-goers, the ladies in their beautiful ball gowns, the men 

wearing tuxedoes looking a little worn by 3am, nurses at the end of their night shift, taxi 

drivers and, lastly, the street cleaners. They came with their brooms to have breakfast, and a 

small truck followed them – an image of the past. 

Sam Leventis (50 Short Cuts: Ross Coco, 2008)  
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c1983 

 

October 2023 

No 38 Petrie Terrace 
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The Brisbane Courier 11 October 1888 
(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 
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c1890  (State Library of Queensland) 

Likely the business owners J Thurlow and T Shephard standing in doorway 
 

 

The Brisbane Courier 19 Mar 1896 
(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 
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c1983 

 

October 2023 

No 40 Petrie Terrace 
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The Courier Mail 18 June 1940 
(National Library of Australia Trove digitised Newspapers) 

From as early as 1915 up until 1942 a Japanese laundry owned by Henry Osawa Suzuki and 
his wife, was located on Petrie Terrace. Nos 40 & 42 Petrie Terrace (his residence) are listed 
and their children went to the Petrie Terrace State School  

(Post Office Directory/Electoral Roll) 

During World War 2 many Japanese living in Australia were interned and after being under 
military surveillance for some time Henry Suzuki, his wife and one of their daughters, were all 
interned at the Gaythorne Internment and POW camp in late 1941/early 1942. 

(National Archives of Australia) 
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c1983 

 

October 2023 

No 44 Petrie Terrace 
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c1983 

 

October 2023 

No 48 Petrie Terrace 
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c1888 

This branch of the bank operated from 25 November 1887 until 30 July 1894 
(State Library of Queensland) 
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 Courier Mail 18 February 1948 

(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 
 

 

 
Brisbane Telegraph 4 March 1954 

(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 
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c1983 

 

October 2023 

No 52 Petrie Terrace 



Brisbane History Group 

 

Petrie Terrace Photo Study – Petrie Terrace vAugust 2025 

 

 

The Brisbane Courier 13 Sep1877 

(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 
 

Previously a butcher’s shop, from the late 1960sNo 52 became an eatery called Tom Jones 
operated by Elizabethan Restaurants Pty Ltd, who later opened Dirty Dick’s at No 2 Caxton 
Street, just on the other side of Weetman Street. 
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Interior of Tom Jones  c1978 

(Around Brisbane, Gold Coast, Sunshine Coast and Toowoomba by Sallyanne Atkinson 1978) 

 

 

c1983 

By 1983 the premises had become Ca Va Restaurant  
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                       The Brisbane Review 1 April 1993        2012 (Foursquare City Guide) 

    

2016 

(Foursquare City Guide) 

 

The Good Chat Comedy Club part of the Caxton Street Brewing Co. 

(Only Brisbane.com.au) 
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The Courier Mail 29 March 1938 

(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 
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1983 

 

 

October 2023 

No 68 Petrie Terrace 
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PRINCE ALFRED HOTEL c 1887-88 – cnr Petrie Terrace and Caxton Street 

The first Prince Alfred was most likely superseded in 1887-88, when the partners in 

Castlemaine Brewery bought the property. In later years it was facelifted by stripping away 

the street awning, upper verandah, cast iron railing, French doors, chimneystack and corner 

entrance, thereby making a mockery of that once handsome façade. 

The Prince Alfred, as named over 120 years ago, possibly began as the Terrace Hotel, built 

and run by Michael Carrigg, a local carpenter in the early 1860s. It was certainly trading 

under its own name by 1868, with Henry Corbett as licensee, when Brisbane wildly welcomed 

the Prince himself. 

Throughout its long history, the proprietors have always been absentee landlords. When the 

north side of Caxton Street was subdivided in 1864, the first owner was John Dowling. As he 

soon defaulted on his building society mortgage in 1867, it is possible that the hotel was 

erected by Robert Brady, the next proprietor, and not Carrigg. Judging by the panorama from 

Red Hill, this was a simple oblong building similar to the Cricketers Arms, but sited gable-end 

towards the Terrace. 

Until the advent of Mrs Catherine Jorgenson in what was probably the new hotel of 1888, 

there were licensees every few years. Not until 1906 did she lose her licence after three 

separate cases of trading on a Sunday. Other long-standing incumbents were Charles and 

Moya D’Allura, who were turned out in 1986. It was Charlie D’Allura, who showed you the 

masonry cellars and bricked over tunnel under the Terrace to where the gaol used to be, and 

swore that iron rings had been removed from the cellar wall by a refrigerator mechanic. 

The proximity of the Brisbane Gaol, later the Police Depot, and Victoria Barracks, fostered a 

close relationship between the Prince Alfred and the police and military personnel. Many 

lived in the suburb, met at the pub, or stayed there at one time or other. In a most dramatic 

case in 1891, staff and lodgers, including three police, were shocked to find the slumped 

body of a 22 year-old constable in his room. He had shot himself through the mouth with his 

service revolver, for no apparent reason. 

As might be expected, the police rarely prosecuted those connected with the hotel, even 

during the 1980s. In the words of one regular: ‘He saw them in the car park dealing dope, he 

was off duty but he could have them anyway, but he just came inside and left a message to 

let them know he’d seen them and he’d kick their arses in if he caught them at it again’. 

Petrie Terrace Brisbane 1858-1988; ‘Its ups and downs’  

by Steve Woolcock & Rod Fisher  
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1909 Medal presentation to ex-members of the police force,  

Petrie Terrace/Caxton Street intersection in the background 

(State Library of Queensland) 
 

 

(State Library of Queensland) 

From this c1929 photograph it can be seen that at the northern end of the hotel (Petrie 
Terrace frontage) there is a separate building (under a different roof line). From 1895 to 1914 
it was the home of Owen and Mary Carroll, parents of Thomas Carroll of No 17 Sheriff Street. 
A chemist named Charles EH Parke leased it for five years from 1925, his sign is visible above 

the shop in the lower photograph 

(Electoral Roll/Titles) 
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(nd) Prince Albert and Parke’s Chemist, Petrie Terrace 

(State Library of Queensland, Sydney Francis Yesberg collection) 

 

 

 



Brisbane History Group 

 

Petrie Terrace Photo Study – Petrie Terrace vAugust 2025 

 

 

c1983 

 

October 2023 

No 68 Petrie Terrace 
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c1983  (inset 1948 photo of previous building on this corner  

                 National Archives of Australia) 

 

October 2023              

 No 80 Petrie Terrace 
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The Queenslander 5 May 1877 

(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 
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Part 1874 view of Petrie Terrace from the west, Menzies Street delineated, providing  

a rear view of the buildings mentioned in the 1877 report above  

(State Library of Queensland) 

1927 plan view of the buildings at the intersection of Petrie Terrace and Menzies Street. Nos 

76 to 82 appear to have been rebuilt to the same pattern as before the fire, the vacant lot, 

the row houses and Hotel as described. On the western side of Menzies a new terrace Nos 84 

to 90 has replaced the two earlier buildings 

 

Part 1927 Metropolitan Water Supply and Sewerage Board Plan 113 

(Brisbane City Archives) 
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c1983 

 

October 2023 

No 90 Petrie Terrace 
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1948 (National Archives of Australia) 

 

September 1953 (National Archives of Australia) 

There was a grocer’s shop on the corner, then the Post Office and then a guest house 
managed by Emily Pesch. She was the mother of Jack Pesch who owned the bicycle shop at 
No 112 Petrie Terrace. 

Kevin Gamble 1990s 

I bought many stamps there and used the red phone box outside with two pennies. It was the 
black box with A and B. I don’t think many people in Petrie Terrace in those days had phones.  
At times there was a queue waiting to use it!  

Joan Kelly 2024 

Nos 90 – 94 Petrie Terrace  
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                             Pugh’s Almanac 1886                                   The Brisbane Courier 17 Jan 1887 

 

The Brisbane Courier 15 Nov 1909 

(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 

J W Ayscough was at No 90 Petrie Terrace in 1908 (Electoral Roll) 
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c1983 

 

October 2023 

No 92 Petrie Terrace 
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c1983 

 

October 2023 

No 94 Petrie Terrace 



Brisbane History Group 

 

Petrie Terrace Photo Study – Petrie Terrace vAugust 2025 

 

 

 

(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 
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c1983 

 

October 2023 

No 96 Petrie Terrace 
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Bill Rochaix (Courtesy MG Elliot) 

Tim the Toyman was in this locality from as early as 1954, the original owner of the business 

being Bill Rochaix. The c1983 photos above show that Nos 94 and 96 were both part of his 

premises and his import and wholesale business was also known to have included household 

goods, kitchenware and baby items with some items of furniture. To store all of this he had a 

warehouse in Jessie Street. 

Jan Hannon and Denise May (2024) 

 

Bill Rochaix who owned Tim the Toyman was a great friend of my father. The business was a 

toy wholesaler so every Christmas in the early 60s I would get a bundle of toys from him in 

my pillowslip at the end of my bed. 

Mark Taylor (2024) 

I lived at 98 Petrie Terrace as a child from 1960 – 1967, between Tim the Toyman and Jack 

Pesch on the other side. My grandmother owned the house and sold it in 1967, it was 

relocated – a lovely old house. We watched the Paddington tram depot fire from our back 

verandah. I remember every Christmas Tim the Toyman would host a party with presents for 

all the neighbourhood kids; on the vacant block in Ayr Street which was behind our house. 

Margie Hansford (2024) 
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c1983 

 

October 2023 

No 110 Petrie Terrace 
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c1983 

 

October 2023 

No 112 Petrie Terrace 
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      The Telegraph 31 Mar 1882                                   The Telegraph 7 Apr 1886 

                 (National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 
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 The Telegraph 18 Feb 1910                   The Courier Mail 10 Dec 1938 

(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 

Richard Trout had a butchering business on the corner of Petrie Terrace and Jessie Street 

from 1888, and his son Walter Trout continued that business from the late 1930s (Titles) 
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Daily Standard 4 Apr 1930 
(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 
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Jack Pesch purchased these premises in 1949 (Titles) 
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(Courtesy Patrick Sherlock Photography) 
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c1984 

 

October 2023 

No 118 Petrie Terrace 
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c1984 

 

October 2023 

No 120 Petrie Terrace 
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c1984 

 

October 2023 

No 124 Petrie Terrace 
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c1984 

 

October 2023 

No 130 Petrie Terrace 
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The Telegraph 1 Aug 1931 
                                         

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
The Queenslander, 19 Sept 1935             

 

 

Daniel Jones lived at No 130 Petrie Terrace (Titles) 
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1954  (Brisbane City Archives) 

 

October 2023 

No 134 Petrie Terrace 
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The Telegraph 19 Oct 1894, page 2 

(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers)   

 

 

Nos 118 to 134 Petrie Terrace c1956 

(Lindsay Watson, Christadelphian Archives)                                                                                                
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Opening of the new Christadelphian Hall in June 1958 

No 134 Petrie Terrace was purchased by the Christadelphian Ecclesia in 1956/57 and construction of 

the new hall was commenced soon after. McNaught & Cowlishaw were the architects, Marberete Co 

Pty Ltd the builders 

(Lindsay Watson, Christadelphian archives) 
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The North Australian 25 Jun 1864 
(National Library of Australia Trove 

digitised newspapers) 

 

 
Slater’s Pocket map of Brisbane 1865 

(State Library of Queensland) 

 

Members of the Smith family at No 146 Petrie Terrace c1882, previously  

the Cricketers Arms Hotel 

(State Library of Queensland) 
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CRICKETERS ARMS 1864 – 146 Petrie Terrace  

One of the earliest public houses was the Cricketers Arms, built on the corner of Cricket Street 

and licensed in 1864. The name derived from the Green Hills sports ground in Countess 

Street, overlooked by the Terrace. That was Brisbane’s venue for fun and games from the 

1850s to mid 1870s. Not until the 1874 directory did ‘Cricket Street’ become the name for 

Gray Street, the first landowners. Yet the Cricketers Arms was then renamed the ‘Railway 

Hotel’ in recognition of the Ipswich line at the southern end. 

The first proprietor until 1879 was Daniel O’Neil, who was evidently connected with Mary 

Ahearn, the well-known host at the Sportsman’s Arms downtown. Having purchased the 

large allotment in 1861, she transferred one of her subdivisions fronting the Terrace to O’Neil 

in 1864, the second to his wife Mary in 1872, and the third to her widowed daughter Bridget 

Cahill in 1869. The rest were mostly transferred to Mary and Bridget in 1872-73. Not bad 

going for an illiterate widow in a man’s world. 

If the Irish connection was important in early Petrie Terrace, so was the printing brigade. 

Robert Mills, a compositor of Cricket Street, who purchased Mary O’Neil’s land in 1875 and 

lived there for over a decade, was the first licensee of the Cricketers Arms. Since the licence 

was transferred to John Mills and then Daniel O’Neil within a year, this smacks of some kind 

of collusion. 

Another compositor involved in the liquor trade was William Warman, whose establishment 

was named after the first English printer, hence the Caxton Hotel and Caxton Street. Edmund 

Gregory, later the Government Printer, and George Hall, the Courier journalist, lived along 

the Terrace, as did Thomas Woodward Hill, publisher of the Courier. Hill, who resided 

opposite the hotel, was responsible for a petition against granting Mill’s licence, claiming 

that a public house on the main road would harm the working class. 

A photograph taken in the early 1880s shows a kind of ‘bush’ hotel – a gable-roofed, shingle-

covered oblong building, with attic windows at each end, chamferboard walls, plain 

verandahs, a corner entrance, French doors,  and tripartite windows, plus the obligatory 

hotel oil lamp leaning drunkenly on top of its post. By this time the building had become 

principally a residence for the family of John F Smith, another publisher. 

The other incumbent was John Dunbar, listed as a carpenter in 1883, but thereafter as the 

caretaker in charge of Fire Brigade Station No 4. By 1894 Dunbar and the Petrie Terrace Fire 

Station moved further along the Terrace to Musgrave Road and the premises became 

exclusively residential, for householders and lodgers. He subsequently replaced the former 

hotel with a substantial home, which belonged to the Peapell family for many years. 

Petrie Terrace Brisbane 1858-1988; ‘Its ups and downs’  

by Steve Woolcock & Rod Fisher  
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Part 1927 Metropolitan Water Supply and Sewerage Board Plan 112 

(Brisbane City Archives) 

 

 

1961 Aerial Photograph, ‘Bolivia’ removed/demolished and construction  

of the new Masonic building under way 

(QImagery) 
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No 154 – 162 Petrie Terrace 
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c1983         

 

July 1988  

No 154 Petrie Terrace 
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c1983 

I lived towards the front of the house in a single bedroom flat from 1965 to 1968. The whole 
property consisted of seven flats and one stand-alone dwelling at the back with a toilet 
beside. Also 6 single rooms, two 1/2 shared bathrooms and 3 toilets. There was a communal 
kitchen for the single room occupants.  

We had two house fires during my stay. 

I can still remember the bottle man and his goat-drawn cart as well as the guy carrying dry 
ice for the ice chest. 

Roger Reed (2023) 
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1977 

 

July 1988  

No 162 Petrie Terrace  
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1888 Part Plan D-9-99 showing drainage and other works west of Petrie Terrace 

(Brisbane City Archives) 

 

Part c1890 Drainage contract Plan D-13-29 

(Brisbane City Archives)  
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No 168-172 Petrie Terrace 
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The Brisbane Courier 3 Dec 1929  
(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 

 

 

The Telegraph 18 Jan 1930 
(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 

 

 

The Brisbane Courier 19 Jul 1933 
(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 
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The Brisbane Courier 11 April 1930                   Queensland Times 2 April 1947 

(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 

 

Leonard Francis lived at No 1 Shawn Flats (1941 Electoral roll) 
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‘HALL’S HOUSE’ 176 PETRIE TERRACE, PETRIE TERRACE 

Ron Hamer (January 2022) 

A sale of Crown land was held at the Brisbane Police Office on 16 September, 1861. Thirty 
two of the 61 lots offered were described as suburban lots in the Parish of North Brisbane 
(Portions 285 to 313 and 316 to 320). They ranged in area from 2 roods 6 perches to 4 acres 
and 7 perches, with most being between one and two acres. Their situation was given as ‘On 
the Green Hills near Burial Ground Reserve’ in an advertisement in The Courier on 13 
September, 1861. The reserve price of each lot was either £25 or £50 per acre. 

Two days after the sale, The Courier reported that ‘the court was crowded with intending 
purchasers. The bidding was very spirited, and, as will be seen by the result of the sale given 
below, very high prices were realised for the various lots. One good result of the sale, thanks 
to the Municipalities Act, passed last session, will be a very desirable accession to the present 
funds of the Brisbane Corporation’. 

The various parcels of land sold in 1861 were subsequently subdivided, creating a large 
number of small allotments and a network of mostly narrow streets, and the availability of 
affordable residential allotments attracted the attention of newly-arrived immigrants. 

Joseph Baynes was a major participant in the 1861 Government land sale. He lodged 
successful bids for Portions 299, 300, 301, 302 and 303, acquiring a substantial land holding 
with frontage to Petrie Terrace, Regent Street and Hale Street, and referred to locally as 
Baynes’s Paddock.  

 

Portion 299 had an area of 1 acre 2 roods 24 perches, and was bought by Baynes for 
£258/11/9. The parcel of land had a street frontage of approximately 40 metres to Petrie 
Terrace, and extended for approximately 175 metres to the west of the street. 

Baynes is believed to have sold Portion 299 to George Love Pratten as a single parcel of land. 
Pratten, a licensed surveyor, prepared a plan of subdivision in 1865, creating Pratten Street 
on the southern side of the estate and 17 residential allotments (Lots 1 to 17 on RP 10680). 
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Three allotments faced Petrie Terrace, and the other 14 were on the northern side of Pratten 
Street.  

On 18 July, 1867, Pratten sold Lot 1, comprising 14.2 perches (approximately 359 square 
metres), to George Hall. With frontage to Petrie Terrace, the allotment had views towards 
the town, and the additional advantage of access to the rear of the property from Pratten 
Street via a Right of Way. 

In March, 1866, George Hall had bought two adjoining allotments near the summit of Red 

Hill. George and Mary Ann Hall and their children are thought to have been living in 

Stoneleigh Cottage in Clarendon Parade (later renamed Stoneleigh Street) by the time of the 

Petrie Terrace purchase. 

It was also around this time that George left his position with the Guardian, a morning daily 
newspaper, and became a columnist with The Brisbane Courier. In 1874, he was appointed 
editor of The Telegraph, and remained in that position until his retirement in 1886. He 
became a well-known public figure through his Odd Notes column written under the nom de 
plume of Bohemian .  

Shortly after taking up the Telegraph appointment, George and his wife moved from 
Stoneleigh Cottage to Ferny Dell, a 12½ acre property (Portion 666, Parish of Enoggera) with 
extensive frontage to Three Mile Scrub Road (now Ashgrove Avenue). George had bought 
this property in May, 1873, and added the adjoining Portion 666a to the land holding in 
September, 1875. 

During this period of changes in George’s social status and residential arrangements 
(according to unconfirmed family lore, the Hall family’s seaside cottage at Sandgate had 
been acquired by 1870), it is uncertain how the Petrie Terrace property fitted into the scene. 
No record has been located of the property being occupied by the Hall family or their 
tenants. It is thought that George had conceived the idea of owning a town house, and that 
the idea was developed as his affluence increased, as the travel between the town and Red 
Hill became more tiresome, and as the dream of living on a country estate was realised. 
Ferny Dell remained the main residence of the Halls until George’s retirement in 1886, when 
they made a trip to England before moving to their Sandgate property. The Petrie Terrace 
town house is believed to have been used when George’s editorial responsibilities or business 
activities kept him in town until late, or when a convivial evening had been spent at a 
meeting of the Johnsonian Club. 

George Hall mortgaged the Petrie Terrace property to the Brisbane Mutual Building and 
Investment Society (of which he was the Chairman) for £300 in August, 1874. While this 
suggests that he may have had a house built on the property in late 1874, it is more probable 
that the loan was used to extend and upgrade an existing modest cottage after resolution of 
the Green Hills Reserve controversy. In 1872, the municipal authorities proposed that the 
parcel of unused Crown land located between Petrie Terrace and Countess Street be made 
available for purchase and subdivision into residential allotments. The proposal had the 
support of many residents of the streets to the west of Petrie Terrace, who hoped that the 
funds raised by a sale would be used to effect improvements in their locality. George Hall and 
James Hardgrave, who owned houses on Lots 2 and 3 adjacent to Hall’s allotment, lead a 
long and vigorous campaign to have the land used for a recreation reserve. They were 



Brisbane History Group 

 

Petrie Terrace Photo Study – Petrie Terrace vAugust 2025 

 

supported by the residents of Petrie Terrace, concerned that their properties would lose their 
extensive views and exposure to easterly breezes. The land was gazetted as a Recreation 
Reserve in 1875, and Hardgrave and Hall were among the citizens appointed as Trustees to 
control the Reserve. The parkland was known as Green Hills Reserve and as Countess Street 
Reserve, and is now named Hardgrave Park.   

The original home at 176 Petrie Terrace appears to have been of conventional cottage 
design, with a four-room core, a verandah at the front, and probably a small 
kitchen/verandah at the rear. A two-storeyed extension incorporating a kitchen was added to 
one rear corner, followed by another two-storeyed extension to the other rear corner. The 
design and detailing suggest that each extension was built during Hall’s period of ownership. 

No record has been located regarding the builder, but it is interesting to speculate that 
George Hall’s son-in-law may have been involved. Sabina Hall married George Dennis at her 
parents’ residence, Stoneleigh Cottage, on New Year’s Day, 1870. George Dennis and his 
father were building contractors (John Dennis and Son). In the early 1870s, they completed 
school, courthouse, hospital, hotel, shop and commercial projects, but were also experienced 
in residential construction, including their own two-storeyed timber homes nearby at what 
became 210 and 212 Hale Street. 

In the book ‘Petrie-Terrace, Brisbane, 1858-1988’ (1988), the house at 176 Petrie Terrace is 
illustrated in a sketch by Steve Woolcock, and described in the text by Rod Fisher. The sketch 
and information on the house are also included in Fisher’s later book ‘Queenslanders: Their 
Historic Timbered Homes’ (2016). Fisher referred to the property as ‘Hall’s House’, and, as no 
record has been located of the Halls having given the house a name, this account has also 
used the ‘Hall’s House’ title.  

The property was sold by George Hall to Marian Frances Fountain, the wife of Stephenson 
Fountain, in August, 1882. Details of subsequent ownership have not been researched, apart 
from some descendants of George and Mary Ann Hall having taken the opportunity to 
inspect the property in the late 1990s, when it was functioning as the Petrie Terrace Lodge 
boarding house.  
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‘HALL’S HOUSE’ early 1870s – 176 Petrie Terrace  

In 1867 George ‘Bohemian’ Hall, the noted Courier columnist, bought a 14 perch block from 

George Love Pratten, a government surveyor, and built his cottage by the 1870s. The back 

view reveals an exceptional range of gables largely because a two-storied structure was 

shifted in against the rear. On the left is a traditional kitchen house attached to the back 

verandah, complete with fireplace and steps aloft. The front originally had a pleasing 

verandah roof of concave iron stepped down from the main shingled roof, and a full length 

window on either side of the door. There were only four good-sized rooms, but one had a 

parlour fireplace and there was possibly an attic then.  

Hall’s neighbour, who owned two houses on the Pratten Street side was John Hardgrave JP, a 

boot and soap manufacturer and property developer, mayor of Brisbane in 1864 and a West 

Ward alderman 1868-69. In 1872 Hall and Hardgrave learnt that the Brisbane Municipal 

Council wanted the two acre triangle of Crown land opposite their homes for building sites. 

They joined with Thomas Woodward Hill, a printer living on the Cricket Street corner, in 

protesting to the Government that any blocking of the eastern breeze in summer would 

adversely affect the health of this heavily populated area. 

Their petition however, upset nearby residents who believed that sale money might improve 

the streets and settle Petrie Terrace towards the town. They were mostly lesser folk of the 

backstreets – builders, draymen, tradesmen and shopkeepers – who had their own interests 

to protect at a sluggish time economically. Their counter-petition had no less than 188 

signatures, their public meeting place was the Cricketers’ Arms, and one of their leaders was 

Robert Mills, who had clashed with Hill over the hotel licence in 1864. 

The government argued that the steep site between the Terrace and Countess Street was 

more suited to recreation than building. As a result ten elite Terrace residents, including 

Hardgrave, Hall and Hill, requested in 1873 that trustees be appointed to fence and plant the 

area. Thus the recreation reserves in Countess Street and Wickham Terrace were gazetted in 

1875, two of the trustees being Hardgrave and Hall. They pursued a vigorous policy until 

1887, when control was granted to the Council. Much of the planting of palms and figs dates 

from the 1880s and 1890s, though two blue gums remain of the once ‘Green Hills’. The rare 

stone retaining wall and solid wrought iron railing at the Normanby end have recently been 

restored. Unfortunately the end-post with a lion’s head drinking fountain dated 1896, sits 

forlornly at the opposite end of the reserve, minus its gas lamp. 

By the 1880s most of the elite petitioners had moved away. Hall’s house was occupied by a 

contractor, then an accountant and finally a series of married ladies and lodgers. Hill stayed 

until the 1890s, but Hardgrave went to West End. In 1900 he returned to Petrie Terrace 

overlooking his beloved park, and died there six years later, followed by his widow Margaret, 

in 1924. 

Petrie Terrace Brisbane 1858-1988; ‘Its ups and downs’  

by Steve Woolcock & Rod Fisher 



Brisbane History Group 

 

Petrie Terrace Photo Study – Petrie Terrace vAugust 2025 

 

 

Courier Mail 13 May 1984 
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Dining room of ‘Glen Eden’ 182 Petrie Terrace 1913 
(State Library of Queensland) 

 
From as early as 1908 until 1929 this was the home of the McKellar family (Electoral Rolls). 

Alexander Robertson McKellar was a draftsman in the lithographic branch of the survey 

section in the Queensland Government  

 

This series of maps were drawn privately by the government cartographer, Alexander 

Robertson McKellar, and  later published by the Surveyor-General's Office, Brisbane, in 1895. 

These 6 chains to an inch scale maps of Brisbane and suburbs include details on parish and 

local authority boundaries, and railways and tramways etc 

(Available online at the Queensland Government Open Data Portal) 
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 The Courier Mail 8 Sept 1993 
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1883 Land Auction plan of Bishop’s Hill, Petrie Terrace (SLQ) 

 

Petrie Terrace west of Fiveways would subsequently be renamed Musgrave Road and the 

north-south Gov’t Road, initially Cemetery Road, would be extended through Portion 315 and 

become Hale Street 

 

‘Bishop’s Hill’ was an appropriate name for this locale, James Quinn the RC Bishop of 

Brisbane purchased seven of the Portions fronting Petrie Terrace stretching from Regent 

Street to Hale Street. He missed out on Portion 311 which was purchased by Edward 

Wyndham Tufnell, C of E Bishop of Brisbane  
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No 190 – 202 Petrie Terrace 
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PRINCESS ROW 1863 – 190 - 202 Petrie Terrace  

Where Princess Street joins Petrie Terrace, there remains a row of earliest terrace houses. To 
the casual passer-by, these might be well disguised – one covered by a shop facade, the 
other three by recent foliage, and all by fibro sheeting and assorted stovehouses at the rear. 
Nevertheless multiple chimneystacks and dormer windows along the roofline, as well as 
sandstone footings and ‘rats nest’ brickwork give the game away. 

These terrace houses were originally called Costin’s Cottages after their first owner, William 
John Costin, the early Queen Street chemist. In 1863 Costin acquired two of the large 
allotments on Petrie Terrace – over three acres altogether – and promptly carved this land 
into 53 blocks, mostly seven and a quarter perches a piece. Four terrace houses, each of four 
rooms, two small attics, and two main fireplaces were squeezed onto three blocks totalling 
31 perches. Two had detached wooden kitchens, while the others had kitchens on the 
downward sloping ground underneath. 

William Costin, who was quite a property speculator by this time, took out two large 
mortgages on his property in 1864 (£1600) and 1866 (£1000). But after Queensland’s 
economic bubble suddenly burst in 1866, his creditors pounced, and he was declared 
insolvent. The person who gained possession of his cottages by 1870 was Henry Jordan MP, 
Queensland’s first immigration agent in London and subsequently Registrar-General – who 
also happened to be Costin’s mortgagee. The terrace was thereafter known as Princess Row. 

Because of the deficiencies of early directories, the first occupants are not known. 
Nevertheless several old boys recorded that schoolmaster Donald Cameron and his wife used 
the terrace as a boarding house for about a dozen students when Brisbane Grammar was 
founded down the hill in Roma Street in 1869. During the following decades Princess Row 
was inhabited by some persons of social standing, including Henry Jordan himself in the late 
1870s and William Fryar, the Inspector of Mines and ex MP, during the mid 1880s. 

By and large the male householders were really a mixed lot – solicitor, bricklayer, draper, 
carter, accountant, sawyer, butcher, waiter – and none stayed for long. Female householders 
were generally listed in directories simply as ‘Mrs’, sometimes with the addition of 
‘dressmaker’, but more often ‘boarding-house keeper’. They included Mrs Leitch, whose 
lodgers in the mid 1880s were a carpenter and three railway porters, since Roma Street was 
the city’s railway terminus from 1875. By then the economy was starting to stir again. 

In more recent times the concave verandah roofs have been replaced with straight 
corrugated iron, the picket fences removed, the verandahs boxed in front and back, and a 
two-storied shop tacked onto one corner house. Most of these changes evidently occurred 
during the incumbency of the Arthur King Koi family. For half a century from 1929 the locals 
resorted thankfully to what they called ‘The Chinaman’s Shop’. 

Petrie Terrace Brisbane 1858-1988; ‘Its ups and downs’  
by Steve Woolcock & Rod Fisher   
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The Brisbane Courier 31 Jul 1866 

(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers 
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The Telegraph 29 Mar 1902 

(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 

 

The Jenkins lived at No 206 Petrie Terrace (Electoral Roll) 
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Cor Boogart Cottage – 206 Petrie Terrace 

In the late 1960s, No 206 Petrie Terrace was purchased by the Brisbane Arts Theatre and 

renamed the Cor Boogart Cottage (named after one of the theatre’s workshop managers of 

27 years). The Cottage housed a workshop underneath it that was used for building sets and 

storing props.  

Shortly after, in 1971, 222 Petrie Terrace was also purchased. At first, the venue was used as 

a rehearsal space and a storage space for the theatre’s extensive costume collection but in 

May of 2011, 222 Petrie Terrace was sold, and 206 Petrie Terrace became the official home 

of the Costume Cottage.  

History, Brisbane Arts Theatre website 
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1950s  (History, Brisbane Arts Theatre) 

 

 

October 2023 

No 210 – 214 Petrie Terrace 
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History, Brisbane Arts Theatre website 

In 1936, Brisbane Amateur Theatres was founded by Jean Trundle and Vic Hardgraves. The 
company officially became known as Brisbane Arts Theatre in 1947; and 14 years later, the 
iconic building that resides at 210 Petrie Terrace became the company’s long-term home. 
This made Brisbane Arts Theatre the first theatre company in Brisbane to operate within its 
own theatre premises. Before becoming Brisbane Arts Theatre’s new home, the property was 
formerly known as Dan’s – a second hand shop. It was purchased for £6000 in June of 1956, 
and redeveloped. The first production to ever be staged in the new venue was ‘The 
Multicoloured Umbrella’ by Armidale playwright Barbara Mary Vernon. The first season to 
appear on the iconic stage included nine plays of up to 20 performances each. 

At around 3am on May 31st 1964, our beloved home was badly damaged by fire – but that 
didn’t stop us, and before long, we were up and running again on the 15th of June 1965. 
During the rebuild of the theatre, seasons persisted off-site. 
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Courier Mail 5 March 1985 
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National Trust of Queensland Journal advertisement July 1983 
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The Courier-Mail 1 Feb 1995 
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Tales of a Seventies Dishy -  Foodbebe website (Nov 2014) 

The Arts and Battledress was iconic in more ways than one apparently. The  name may have 
come from the original London discreet and exclusive ‘mens’ club set up in the 40’s to allow 
gay men to avoid the bashings being handed out.  

In the late 60’s/early 70’s, Eric and Ernest were one of Brisbane’s earlier well known gay 
couples to set up a restaurant; this being The Arts and Battledress, which became renowned 
for its quality and consistency. Next door to the Brisbane Arts Theatre on Petrie Terrace, it 
seemed aptly named. It was very popular and booked out months in advance, and the menu 
never changed. Apart from the odd special, patrons could turn up year in year out and 
reliably find the same old favourites on the bill. 

The decor consisted of wall stands, chiffonier hat stands and umbrella racks in antique 
timbers and decked out with all modes of battle dress and hats, helmets, caps and the like. 
Impeccably set tables with white linen and immaculate glassware were tended by the entire 
wait staff when service was ready. And every course of every meal was delivered with silver 
service and fanfare. Farewells were a specialty. The team would line up, in battledress and 
hats, to serenade the departing parties with little plastic bassoons. 

Ernest, the chef, worked putting together the mains. It was all classic French style cooking 
with as modern a twist as was allowed in the 70’s.   

 

 

One of the subsequent restaurants (City News c2003) 
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No 222 Petrie Terrace 
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KELSO HOUSE 1886-87 – 222 Petrie Terrace 

Though covered by metal cladding and gutted for dramatic purposes, the two-storied form of 
Kelso House, with its triple chimney-stack, suggests an early dwelling of some standing. It 
once resembled ‘Culmore’ at 34 Cricket Street – a ‘first-class residence of 7 rooms, kitchen, 
servant’s and bath rooms, pantry, handsome hall and balconies’ – though verandah 
balusters might have been of timber and not iron. 

For such a prominent residence, set high upon the Terrace to catch the north-easterly breezes 
and superb views in all directions, we might expect inhabitants of upper social standing. The 
street directories from 1897 to 1902 name Thomas Howling, an auctioneer, followed by a 
string of tenants, most of whom were married women. However, the family which held the 
title from 1885 to 1929, and occupied Kelso House between 1890 and 1896 was the 
Haskings. The owner until her death in 1908 was Mary Haskings, wife of Walter, who 
possessed a shingle-roofed verandahed house this side of Florence House from 1881 until his 
death in 1896. It was there that the Haskings family lived before and after their sojourn at 
Kelso House. 

Until the 1890s Walter Haskings was listed as a labourer and then a drayman. At Kelso 
House, however, he appeared as a contractor, while his son William was termed a carpenter 
and then a contractor. Thus they probably built the house themselves, naming it after the 
Scottish town on the north side of the Tweed. But like so many of the ample residences along 
the Terrace, it operated much of its lifetime as a boarding-house. 

Though the first householder, Mrs Ellen Orr, was described as a music teacher in 1887-88, 
she was also catering for aspiring young gentlemen. Judging by the Police Court evidence in 
January 1888, these inmates were fair game for local ‘larrikins’ who were held responsible 
for burglaries at Spring Hill and Petrie Terrace boarding-houses, including Kelso House: 
‘Theophilus Augustus Doran Maillard, book-keeper to Carew, Gardner and Billington said 
that on the 23rd he occupied the right-hand front room on the first floor; there were two 
windows and an ordinary door in the room; one window opened on the front veranda; 
amongst his property in the room he had a gold watch and chain and Masonic emblem 
attached, a single-stone diamond ring; the watch and chain were in his waistcoat pocket on 
a chair-back, and the pin was on the dressing-table; the door was closed and the veranda 
window open; when he awoke about 6.15 the next morning, he noticed the door open, his 
shirt was moved, and his watch chain, Masonic emblem, and ring had gone; he spoke to the 
other lodgers about the matter’. 

Alan and James Campbell, who slept in the front room upstairs told a similar tale, while Mrs 
Orr deposed that she had locked the front door and closed the back that night, but that a 
person might climb up the balcony and get upstairs without entering the lower part of the 
house. The culprit in this case was Samuel Airey, a ‘youth’ aged 20, who had the goods in his 
possession, pleaded guilty, and was sentenced accordingly. 

Looking at Kelso House today, one would hardly credit such real life drama, within those 
tinned walls, a century ago. 

Petrie Terrace Brisbane 1858-1988; ‘Its ups and downs’  
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O’KEEFE’S BUILDINGS 1881 – 230-38 Petrie Terrace  

Terrace houses might be two a penny in southern cities, but in Brisbane they are a scarce 

commodity. Some authorities argue that an Act of Parliament in 1885 inhibited the building 

of attached housing. However, people preferred their own detached houses, which were 

cheaper here because of the plentiful supply of timber and the evolution of a style more 

suited to environment. Nevertheless there used to be much more attached housing, often in 

timber, most of which has vanished. On Wellington Street and Petrie Terrace stand four 

splendid examples of attached housing. All are masonry-built, but quite different.  

The most imposing row of three houses on Petrie Terrace [242 – 246] was built in 1887-88 for 

Mrs Sarah Guilfoyle, widow, on three blocks. Now known as Petrie Mansions Restaurant, 

they were first called Illawarra Buildings. In 1884/5 four houses were squeezed onto two 10 

perch blocks in Wellington Street owned by John Arthur Manis O’Keefe. The adjacent pair 

came into the hands of his wife in 1911, but were built for widow Mary Mooney, in 1894/5. 

Earlier and most decorative is the Terrace House Restaurant next to Petrie Mansions. The 

dominant rows of chimney-stacks above the hipped roof underline the importance of 

fireplaces, even in semi-tropical Brisbane. The verandah arches, cast iron panels and front 

fences ornament an otherwise plain form. Internally and at the back the building has been 

adapted for dining purposes – plaster being stripped away, walls breached and verandahs 

enclosed. This was the price to pay for rescuing what had become disfigured, dilapidated and 

derelict doss houses from the bulldozer. 

The two blocks of land were bought by Ellen O’Keefe, wife of James, a miner of Gympie in 

1877. He became better known as a major builder, his most acclaimed work being Her 

Majesty’s Opera House in 1888 (demolished 1985). The architect working there with O’Keefe, 

as on St Patrick’s Church, Palma Rosa and Illawarra Buildings, was Andrea Stombuco, who 

possibly designed O’Keefe’s Buildings, as they became known. O’Keefe was no doubt 

responsible for these terrace houses as well as the four around the corner, and possibly the 

other two, but his insolvency intervened in 1890. 

Though better quality housing on the ridge attracted middle class tenants, there was quite a 

mixture occupationally. From 1888 until 1917 the O’Keefes and then his widow lived on the 

end. Other household heads included a signwriter, janitor, railway guard, labourer, 

bootmaker and clothier, as well as several females. One was Mrs Helen Orr, a music teacher 

there from 1889 to 1892, having moved from Kelso House three doors down. Her next door 

neighbours were the Atwells who arrived from Toowoomba in 1888. William was then an 

inspector and later Chief Inspector of railways after moving to Wooloowin in 1892. It must 

have been difficult fitting into a medium-sized terrace house, since they had nine offspring 

living and their thirteenth child died there in 1889. However, the best-known inhabitant was 

Thomas J Byrnes, the later Premier, whose untimely death in 1898 shattered the colony. 

Byrnes lived there as a young law student and barrister from 1883 to 1886, and was one of 

the first occupants of Illawarra Buildings in 1888. 

Petrie Terrace Brisbane 1858-1988; ‘Its ups and downs’  

by Steve Woolcock & Rod Fisher  



Brisbane History Group 

 

Petrie Terrace Photo Study – Petrie Terrace vAugust 2025 

 

 

 

   

John FH Burne photographs, John Oxley Library, State Library of Queensland 

(From ‘The Petrie Terrace Pictures Collection – 1966 by John Burne’ SLQ) 
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No 242 – 246 Petrie Terrace 
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Illawarra and O'Keeffe's buildings –  
Heritage and music digital trail website, Qld Govt 

During the late 1950s to mid-1960s, leading local artists including Jon Molvig, Andrew Sibley, John 
and Jenny Aland and Merv Moriarty took advantage of the cheap accommodation, living, painting 
and holding classes in the O’Keeffe buildings. One class former student recalled: ‘a few shillings and a 
bottle of wine would get you training in being a dissolute artist’. 

By 1969, the future of the unsightly Illawarra buildings (also known as the Petrie Mansions) looked 
precarious. The last edition of the newspaper by radical group the FOCO Club mourned the pending 
loss ‘of the old tenements on Petrie terrace…a chapter in Brisbane underground history…soon to be 
erased from view’.  

By the mid-1970s both terraces were empty, ‘disfigured, dilapidated and derelict doss houses’. While 
the Saints were in residency at Club 76, Ed Kuepper painted ‘I’m Stranded’ over a crumbling fireplace 
in Illawarra. 

  

 (EMI Australia Limited) 

Film director Russell Mulcahy used the vacant building to shoot a film clip of the band performing 
(I’m) Stranded. The image of The Saints in front of the fireplace adorns the cover of their 1977 debut 
album, which remains one of Australia’s most iconic rock images. The room featuring the fireplace 
soon becomes a favourite spot for local musicians and fans to visit have their photo taken. By the end 
of the 1977 the buildings were converted into the Petrie Mansions and Terrace restaurants. 

 

https://www.qld.gov.au/__data/assets/image/0021/9174/stranded-album-cover.jpg
https://www.qld.gov.au/__data/assets/image/0021/9174/stranded-album-cover.jpg
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FLORENCE HOUSE circa 1877-78 - 256 Petrie Terrace  

Near the Normanby Fiveways stands a unique pair of detached townhouses. Though almost 

identical, they were constructed over a century apart. 

The earlier dwelling, sited on the left of a double allotment, was unusual in being a two-

storied brick building, with front verandahs and steps balustrade by decorative cast iron, and 

a solid masonry fence. At this stage Brisbane was emerging from the financial slough, but 

most Petrie Terrace houses were single-storied timber structures, with little claim to 

elegance. In a panorama of Brisbane in 1881, Florence House stands out starkly along the 

Terrace. It was even more extraordinary for having no windows on either side originally, but 

plain brick walls surmounted by chimney-stacks as if some attached building was intended. 

The owner of both blocks of land was Henry Holmes, a builder of Princess Street nearby, who 

raised several mortgages for £300 to £7000 between 1874 and 1884. Holmes became a 

major contractor, being responsible for the first stage of Brisbane Girls Grammar in 1883 

(£6000), as well as the boarding house for Boys Grammar (£7000) and Byrne Terrace on 

Wickham Terrace (£8000) in 1886. 

Since Holmes built Florence House without occupying it himself, this was evidently a money-

spinner. He also had an eye to the better sort of tenant, considering the elevated position, 

north-easterly aspect and architectural style, as well as the ample proportions of the building 

– a fashionable double living room featuring an ornamental plastered arch, and two other 

rooms downstairs, four rooms upstairs, and a two-storied rear extension with more 

verandahs. 

Consequently the earliest listed tenant in 1878/79 was A Godfrey, a solicitor, followed in 

1883-86 by John Deazeley, the Queen Street photographer, who took the two-part panorama 

of Petrie Terrace from Red Hill in about 1874. The next occupant for over a decade was 

Adolphus Marcus Hertzberg, the active merchant, landowner and ex-mayor of Roma. He 

bought Florence House in 1886, moved in with his new bride from Sydney, and founded the 

wholesale firm of AM Hertzberg & Co in Charlotte Street downtown. When Hertzberg moved 

out to Bowen Terrace, Florence House became a rental property again. After that the 

householders’ names listed in directories were commonly prefixed by ‘Mrs’ followed by the 

term ‘boarding-house’. 

In 1983 another builder purchased the property and proceeded to remove miscellaneous 

partitions and extensions. He reconstructed the front verandah from an early photograph, 

reinstated upper French doors, and generally renewed Florence House. He repaired the 

honeycombed ‘hit and miss’ infill of bricks below the front verandah, but did not restore the 

chimneys. This builder then implemented what Henry Holmes might have merely speculated 

about – a clone house next door.  

Petrie Terrace Brisbane 1858-1988; ‘Its ups and downs’  
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Courier Mail 4 Sept 1951 

(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 

 

 

May 1956 (State Library of Queensland) 
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The Courier Mail 12 October 1983 

(National Library of Australia Trove digitised newspapers) 
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(David Tyler’s portfolio / Jonzun Lee Property website) 
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Normanby Fiveways 1956 

 

1969  (Brisbane City Archives) 
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Petrie Terrace looking south 
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July 1900 Plan of City of Brisbane & Suburbs according to the original land grants 

(Surveyor General’s Office –State Library of Queensland) 
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1951 Part aerial photograph BCC 000539333 

(Queensland Government -QImagery) 


